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DATING	
  THE	
  SUBURBS	
  OF	
  FAIRFIELD	
  
	
  

WAKELEY	
  
A	
   relatively	
   new	
   suburb,	
   Wakeley	
   was	
   officially	
   established	
   in	
   1979.1	
   The	
   area	
   had	
  
previously	
   been	
   sparse	
   farmland	
   and	
   was	
   part	
   of	
   an	
   extensive	
   suburban	
   development	
  
project	
  which	
  began	
  in	
  the	
  late	
  1970s.	
  The	
  area	
  was	
  named	
  after	
  the	
  Wakeley	
  family,	
  who	
  
had	
  a	
  historical	
  presence	
  in	
  the	
  area.	
  It	
  was	
  especially	
  inspired	
  by	
  Daniel	
  Wakeley,	
  a	
  young	
  
man	
  who	
  arrived	
  in	
  Australia	
  in	
  1870.	
  He	
  fought	
  during	
  World	
  War	
  II,	
  and	
  his	
  name	
  can	
  be	
  
found	
  on	
  the	
  Embarkation	
  and	
  Honour	
  roll	
  at	
  the	
  Australian	
  War	
  Memorial,	
  Canberra.	
  	
  
	
  
	
  

Australian	
  War	
  Memorial,	
  First	
  World	
  War	
  Embarkation	
  Roll:	
  Daniel	
  Wakeley,	
  
https://www.awm.gov.au/images/collection/items/ACCNUM_LARGE/RCDIG1067712/RCDIG
1067712-­‐-­‐175-­‐.JPG	
  
	
  

	
  
“Pioneer	
  Looks	
  Back	
  On	
  Wakeley,”	
  Fairfield	
  Advance,	
  November	
  25,	
  1981,	
  14.	
  	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  

	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  
1	
  Municipality	
  of	
  Fairfield	
  Council	
  Minutes,	
  Wednesday	
  6th	
  June,	
  1979.	
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BONNYRIGG	
  
Bonnyrigg	
  was	
  officially	
  established	
  as	
  a	
  suburb	
  in	
  1979.2	
  The	
  newly	
  released	
  area	
  was	
  the	
  
site	
   of	
   an	
   extensive	
   housing	
   commission	
   development	
   in	
   response	
   to	
   growing	
   immigrant	
  
populations.	
  Commercial	
  enterprise	
  and	
  housing	
  rapidly	
  advanced	
  in	
  the	
  1980s.	
  Soon	
  after	
  
it’s	
   establishment,	
   a	
   shopping	
   centre	
   was	
   built	
   and	
   local	
   community	
   organisations	
  
prospered.	
   However,	
   the	
   name	
   Bonnyrigg	
   originates	
   from	
   the	
   early	
   nineteenth	
   century,	
  
when	
  the	
  area’s	
  beautiful	
  undulating	
  hills	
  caught	
  the	
  eye	
  of	
  settlers.	
  The	
  name	
  has	
  Scottish	
  
origins:	
  “bonny”	
  meaning	
  pretty	
  and	
  “rigg”	
  meaning	
  ‘land	
  elevation’.3	
  Bonnyrigg	
  was	
  a	
  part	
  
of	
   an	
   Orphan	
   School	
   grant,	
   which	
  was	
   given	
   by	
   Governor	
   King	
   in	
   1803	
   to	
   support	
  much	
  
needed	
  orphan	
  initiatives.	
  The	
  area	
  eventually	
  became	
  the	
  site	
  of	
  the	
  Male	
  Orphan	
  School,	
  
which	
  ran	
  from	
  1821	
  to	
  1835.4	
  The	
  original	
  Male	
  Orphan	
  School	
  homestead,	
  built	
   in	
  1826,	
  
still	
  stands	
  today,	
  although	
  it	
  has	
  now	
  blended	
  in	
  with	
  residential	
  surroundings.5	
  
	
  

	
  
“Bonnyrigg:	
  It’s	
  All	
  go	
  in	
  New	
  Suburb”,	
  Fairfield	
  Advance	
  February	
  25	
  1981,	
  p.	
  4.	
  	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  

	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  
2	
  Stephen	
  Gapps,	
  Cabrogal	
  to	
  Fairfield	
  City:	
  A	
  History	
  of	
  Multicultural	
  Community	
  (Fairfield:	
  
Fairfield	
  City	
  Council,	
  2010),	
  p.	
  394.	
  	
  
3	
  Vance	
  George,	
  Fairfield:	
  A	
  History	
  of	
  the	
  District,	
  2nd	
  edition	
  (Fairfield:	
  The	
  Council	
  of	
  the	
  
City	
  of	
  Fairfield,	
  1991),	
  p.	
  118.	
  	
  
4	
  George,	
  p.	
  102-­‐112.	
  	
  
5	
  George,	
  p.	
  139.	
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HORSLEY	
  PARK	
  
Horsley	
  Park	
  was	
  part	
  of	
  a	
  large	
  grant,	
  called	
  the	
  “King’s	
  Gift”,	
  awarded	
  to	
  Colonel	
  George	
  
Johnston	
  in	
  1804.	
  However,	
  he	
  himself	
  never	
  lived	
  on	
  this	
  property.	
  instead,	
  it	
  was	
  inherited	
  
by	
  his	
  daughter,	
  Blanche.	
  She	
  married	
  George	
  Weston,	
  who	
  named	
  the	
  property	
  “Horsley	
  
Park”	
  after	
  his	
  birthplace	
  “West	
  Horsley	
  Manor”	
  in	
  Surrey,	
  England.	
  He	
  began	
  construction	
  
on	
  	
  the	
  “Horsley	
  Homestead”	
  in	
  1832,	
  and	
  lived	
  there	
  until	
  his	
  death	
  in	
  1856.6	
  A	
  small	
  village	
  
did	
  surround	
  the	
  homestead	
  but	
  Horsley	
  Park	
  only	
  started	
  to	
  develop	
  into	
  a	
  more	
  modern	
  
area	
  in	
  the	
  1930s.	
  However,	
  the	
  suburb’s	
  beginnings	
  are	
  usually	
  associated	
  with	
  its	
  pioneer	
  
owners,	
   the	
  Westons	
   (1832).	
  When	
   postcodes	
  were	
   established	
   in	
   the	
   Fairfield	
   region	
   in	
  
1967,	
  Horsley	
  park	
  was	
  on	
  the	
  list,	
  which	
  suggests	
  its	
  recognition	
  as	
  a	
  suburb	
  came	
  earlier,	
  
despite	
  its	
  semi-­‐rural	
  topography.	
  Local	
  festivals	
  still	
  celebrate	
  1832	
  as	
  the	
  beginnings	
  of	
  the	
  
suburb.	
  	
  
	
  
	
  
Post	
  coding	
  in	
  District”,	
  The	
  Biz,	
  June	
  15,	
  1967,	
  p.1.	
  	
  
	
  

	
  	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
“Celebrations	
  at	
  Horsley	
  Park”,	
  Fairfield	
  
Champion,	
  November	
  7,	
  1982,	
  p.6.	
  	
  

	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  
6	
  George,	
  p.	
  142-­‐143.	
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ST	
  JOHN’S	
  PARK	
  
According	
  to	
  the	
  Geographical	
  Names	
  Board	
  of	
  NSW,	
  St	
  John’s	
  Park	
  was	
  officially	
  assigned	
  
as	
  a	
   suburb	
   in	
  1991.7	
  However,	
   the	
  history	
  of	
   St	
   John’s	
  Park	
  goes	
  back	
  as	
   far	
  as	
   the	
  mid-­‐
nineteenth	
  century.	
  As	
  such,	
  the	
  Name	
  Board’s	
  date	
  does	
  not	
  take	
  into	
  consideration	
  earlier	
  
developments.	
  	
  Although	
  it	
  did	
  not	
  become	
  a	
  modern	
  ‘suburb’	
  until	
  the	
  1970s	
  it	
  did	
  have	
  a	
  
small	
   settlement	
   as	
   early	
   as	
   the	
   1870s.	
   Land	
   subdivision	
   began	
   in	
   the	
   early	
   1880s	
   and	
  
continued	
   to	
   encourage	
   local	
   settlement.	
   By	
   the	
   end	
   of	
   the	
   nineteenth	
   century,	
   it	
   had	
  
become	
  a	
  lively	
  little	
  village	
  and	
  by	
  1930,	
  St	
  Johns	
  Park	
  developed	
  a	
  local	
  identity,	
  as	
  seen	
  
through	
   local	
   clubs	
   and	
   thriving	
   small	
   businesses.8	
   A	
   post	
   office	
  was	
   established	
   in	
   1888,	
  
considerably	
   earlier	
   than	
   many	
   other	
   Fairfield	
   suburbs.	
   It	
   also	
   had	
   its	
   own	
   Progress	
  
Association	
  and	
  the	
   first	
  school	
  opened	
   in	
  1891.9	
  Given	
  the	
   lack	
  of	
  sources	
  which	
  confirm	
  
the	
   suburb’s	
   “official”	
   proclamation,	
   the	
   year	
   1888,	
   with	
   the	
   establishment	
   of	
   the	
   post-­‐
office	
  and	
  subsequent	
  school,	
  soundly	
  suggests	
  St	
  John’s	
  Park	
  establishment	
  as	
  a	
  developed	
  
area.	
  	
  
	
  

	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  

“St	
  
John’s	
  
Park”,	
  
The	
  

Cumberland	
   Argus	
   and	
   Fruitgrowers	
   Advocate,	
   10	
   March,	
  
1900.	
  	
  
St	
   Johns	
   Park	
   was	
   well	
   established	
   by	
   the	
   end	
   of	
   the	
  
nineteenth	
  century.	
  	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  

	
   The	
  sporting	
  presence	
  at	
  St	
  Johns	
  Park	
  was	
  
prominent	
  during	
  the	
  early	
  twentieth	
  century	
  

	
  
“Rookwood	
  Waratah	
  v.	
  St	
  John’s	
  Park”,	
  The	
  Cumberland	
  
Argus	
  and	
  Fruitgrowers	
  Association,	
  22	
  December,	
  1909.	
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  Geographic	
  Names	
  Board	
  of	
  NSW,	
  accessed	
  November	
  10,	
  2014,	
  
http://www.gnb.nsw.gov.au/place_naming/placename_search/extract?id=TRjLZxZTMa.	
  	
  
8	
  Gapps,	
  p.	
  306.	
  	
  
9	
  Vicki	
  Movizio,	
  A	
  Journey	
  in	
  Time:	
  a	
  history	
  of	
  St	
  John’s	
  Park	
  and	
  it	
  People	
  (Fairfield:	
  Fairfield	
  
City	
  Council,	
  2015).	
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“St	
  John’s	
  Park”,	
  1880-­‐1889,	
  Digital	
  Collections	
  Maps,	
  National	
  Library	
  of	
  Australia,	
  
http://www.nla.gov.au/apps/cdview/?pi=nla.map-­‐lfsp428-­‐s2-­‐v	
  
	
  
Land	
  subdivisions	
  increased	
  during	
  the	
  early	
  1880s,	
  bringing	
  people,	
  particularly	
  
farmers,	
  and	
  small	
  businesses	
  to	
  the	
  area.	
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YENNORA	
  
The	
   word	
   “Yennora”	
   has	
   Aboriginal	
   origins,	
   meaning	
   “to	
   stroll”.	
   Yennora	
   was	
   officially	
  
established	
   in	
   1927.	
   A	
   railway	
   station	
   was	
   built	
   in	
   that	
   year	
   and	
   named	
   Yennora.	
   The	
  
surrounding	
  area,	
  otherwise	
  loosely	
  known	
  as	
  “Orchardleigh”,	
  took	
  on	
  the	
  official	
  name	
  of	
  
Yennora.	
  Railway	
  development	
  consequently	
  brought	
  settlement	
  to	
  the	
  area.	
  	
  By	
  1929,	
  the	
  
area	
  was	
  well	
  established	
  as	
  a	
  township.	
  However,	
  	
  thee	
  area’s	
  history	
  is	
  extensive	
  and	
  the	
  
founder	
   of	
   the	
   area	
   is	
   considered	
   to	
   be	
   Henry	
   Whitaker,	
   who	
   expanded	
   his	
   property,	
  
Orchardleigh	
  Estate,	
  over	
  present-­‐day	
  Yennora,	
  in	
  1843.10	
  Land	
  subdivisions	
  continued	
  into	
  
the	
  early	
  twentieth	
  century,	
  bringing	
  settlement	
  to	
  the	
  area.	
  However,	
   it	
  remained	
  largely	
  
agricultural	
  up	
  until	
  the	
  end	
  of	
  World	
  War	
  II.	
  The	
  area	
  developed	
  rapidly	
  in	
  the	
  1970s,	
  both	
  
in	
  housing	
  and	
  industry,	
  when	
  extensive	
  housing	
  development	
  began	
  in	
  much	
  of	
  Fairfield.11	
  	
  
	
  

	
  
There	
  were	
  protests	
  surrounding	
  the	
  
name	
  Yennora.	
  Many	
  residents	
  wanted	
  
the	
  Station	
  (and	
  area)	
  to	
  be	
  named	
  after	
  
the	
  original	
  Orchardleigh	
  Estate.	
  	
  
	
  
“Railway	
  Station’s	
  Name”,	
  Sydney	
  
Morning	
  Herald,	
  14	
  May	
  1927,	
  p.19.	
  	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  

	
  
“Yennora	
  Station”,	
  Sydney	
  Morning	
  
Herald,	
  26	
  October	
  1927,	
  p.	
  17.	
  	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  

	
  
	
  

	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  
10	
  George,	
  p.	
  83.	
  	
  
11	
  Gapps,	
  p.	
  393.	
  	
  



	
   7	
  

	
  

“Yennora’s	
  Cycle	
  Club”,	
  The	
  Biz,	
  7	
  June	
  
1929,	
  p.	
  1.	
  	
  
By	
   early	
   1929,	
   the	
   area	
   surrounding	
   the	
  
station	
   had	
   taken	
   on	
   the	
   name	
   Yennora.	
  
This	
  local	
  Club	
  demonstrates	
  that	
  Yennora	
  
had	
  become	
  a	
  part	
  of	
  local	
  identity.	
  
	
  

“Yennora	
  Subdivision”,	
  The	
  Biz,	
  23	
  February	
  1929,	
  
p.	
  1.	
  	
  
Soon	
  after	
   the	
   railway,	
   land	
   subdivisions	
  ensued,	
  
making	
   way	
   for	
   residential	
   and	
   commercial	
  
development.	
   Also	
   see	
   “Yennora	
   Subdivision	
  
Plans”,	
  State	
  Library	
  of	
  NSW,	
  
http://www.sl.nsw.gov.au/content_lists	
  
/subdivision_plans/yennora.html	
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VILLAWOOD	
  	
  
Villawood,	
   like	
  Yennora,	
  was	
  established	
  after	
  a	
  railway	
  station	
  was	
  built	
   in	
  1924.	
  Prior	
   to	
  
the	
   railway,	
   the	
   area	
   had	
   been	
   bushland	
   but	
   development	
   rather	
   quickly	
   after	
  
transportation	
   became	
  more	
   effective.	
   The	
   name	
   “Villawood”	
   has	
   a	
   rather	
   quirky	
   origin.	
  
When	
  the	
  station	
  was	
  being	
  developed,	
  the	
  original	
  name	
  given	
  was	
  Woodville,	
  named	
  after	
  
the	
   local	
  Woodville	
  Road.12	
  However,	
  when	
   the	
   station	
  was	
  opened,	
   the	
   same	
  name	
  was	
  
found	
  to	
  belong	
  to	
  an	
  area	
  in	
  Newcastle,	
  which	
  created	
  postal	
  confusions.	
  The	
  two	
  syllables	
  
of	
   “Woodville”	
   were	
   swapped	
   to	
   create	
   Villawood	
   in	
   order	
   to	
   stay	
   true	
   to	
   the	
   original	
  
inspiration.13	
   Land	
   subdivisions,	
   commercial	
   and	
   residential	
   development	
   began	
   almost	
  
immediately	
   after	
   the	
   railway’s	
   opening	
   and	
   the	
   area	
   took	
   on	
   the	
   name	
   Villawood.	
  
However,	
  the	
  suburb	
  did	
  remain	
  relatively	
  small	
  up	
  until	
  the	
  end	
  of	
  World	
  War	
  II,	
  when	
  it	
  
became	
   a	
   part	
   of	
   the	
   housing	
   boom	
   and	
   an	
   important	
   thoroughfare	
   for	
   newly-­‐arrived	
  
immigrants.14	
  

	
  
	
  	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  

	
  

	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  
12	
  George,	
  p.	
  89.	
  	
  
13	
  Frances	
  Pollon,	
  The	
  Book	
  of	
  Sydney	
  Suburbs	
  (North	
  Ryde:	
  Angus	
  and	
  Robertson,	
  1991),	
  p.	
  
260.	
  	
  
14	
  Gapps,	
  p.	
  383.	
  	
  

Subdivision	
  and	
  development	
  began	
  
soon	
  after	
  the	
  opening	
  of	
  the	
  railway	
  
	
  
“Villawood	
  Estate”,	
  Truth,	
  30	
  November	
  
1924,	
  p.	
  16.	
  	
  
	
  

“Real	
  Estate:	
  Activities	
  of	
  the	
  Firm”,	
  The	
  
Sunday	
   Times,	
   30	
   November,	
   1924,	
   p.	
  
12.	
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CARRAMAR	
  
Carramar	
  officially	
  became	
  a	
   suburb	
   in	
  1926.	
   In	
   light	
  of	
  Yennora	
  and	
  Villawood,	
  Carramar	
  
was	
   born	
   of	
   the	
   new	
   railway	
   lines	
   developed	
   in	
   1924.	
   Although	
   originally	
   called	
   “South	
  
Fairfield”,	
  it	
  was	
  changed	
  to	
  Carramar-­‐	
  Aboriginal	
  for	
  “shade	
  of	
  trees”.15	
  It	
  prompted	
  many	
  
of	
   the	
   old	
   farming	
   lots	
   and	
   estates	
   to	
   be	
   subdivided,	
   giving	
   way	
   to	
   residential	
  
development.16	
   However,	
   the	
   areas	
   history	
   goes	
   further	
   back.	
   One	
   individual	
   connected	
  
with	
  Carramar	
  is	
  Captain	
  John	
  Horsley,	
  who	
  purchased	
  land	
  in	
  the	
  area	
  some	
  time	
  between	
  
1817	
   and	
   1820,	
   building	
   his	
   prominent	
   Mark	
   Lodge	
   Estate.17	
   The	
   area	
   was	
   eventually	
  
subdivided	
   into	
  small	
   farm	
  allotments	
   in	
   the	
  early	
  1880s.	
  Carramar’s	
   inaugural	
  post	
  office	
  
opened	
   in	
   1927	
   and	
   by	
   the	
   early	
   1930s,	
   the	
   suburb	
   had	
   a	
   general	
   store	
   and	
   school.	
  
However,	
  the	
  area,	
  like	
  Villawood,	
  remained	
  relatively	
  small	
  up	
  until	
  the	
  end	
  of	
  World	
  War	
  
II,	
  which	
  saw	
  a	
  boom	
  in	
  immigration	
  and	
  Housing	
  Commission	
  construction.18	
  
	
  
	
  

“Municipality	
  of	
  Fairfield:	
  Mayor’s	
  Minutes”,	
  The	
  Biz,	
  24	
  
November,	
  1928,	
  p.	
  8.	
  	
  
	
  
Changing	
  “South	
  Fairfield”	
  to	
  “Carramar”	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  

	
  
	
  
Meaning	
  of	
  Carramar	
  (Carramara	
  is	
  a	
  variation)	
  
	
  
	
  “Carramara:	
   ‘Shade	
  of	
  Trees’”,	
  The	
  Cumberland	
  Argus	
  
and	
  Fruitgrowers	
  Advocate,	
  28	
  May	
  1926,	
  p.	
  13.	
  	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  

	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  
15	
  George,	
  p.	
  89.	
  	
  
16	
  Gapps,	
  p.	
  280.	
  	
  
17	
  Gapps,	
  p.	
  107.	
  	
  
18	
  George,	
  p.	
  181.	
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Properties	
  up	
  for	
  sale	
  in	
  Carramar	
  soon	
  after	
  its	
  
proclamation,	
  encouraging	
  both	
  residential	
  and	
  
commercial	
  development	
  
	
  
“Real	
  Estate	
  Auction	
  Sales”,	
  Sydney	
  Morning	
  
Herald,	
  25	
  May	
  1927,	
  p.	
  23.	
  	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  

	
  
Carramar	
  established	
  its	
  first	
  
Progress	
  Association	
  in	
  1927,	
  
which	
  sort	
  to	
  make	
  local	
  
improvements	
  improvements,	
  
particularly	
  in	
  areas	
  of	
  
electricity,	
  water	
  works,	
  
schooling,	
  etc.	
  	
  
	
  
“Annual	
  Meeting:	
  Carramar	
  
Progress	
  Association”,	
  The	
  
Cumberland	
  Argus	
  and	
  
Fruitgrowers	
  Advocate,	
  9	
  June	
  
1929,	
  p.	
  16.	
  	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  



	
   11	
  

OLD	
  GUILDFORD	
  
	
  
The	
   date	
   of	
   establishment	
   of	
   Old	
   Guildford	
   is	
   hazy	
   because	
   it	
   has	
   two	
   distinct	
   historical	
  
stages.	
   In	
   its	
   early	
   life,	
   the	
   suburb	
  was	
  named	
  Guildford,	
   but	
   it	
  was	
   later	
   changed	
   to	
  Old	
  
Guildford	
   when	
   the	
   railway	
   station	
   was	
   built	
   north	
   of	
   the	
   settlement.	
   The	
   commercial	
  
centre	
  shifted,	
  thus	
  creating	
  the	
  newer	
  and	
  bigger	
  Guildford.19	
  Nevertheless,	
  settlement	
  at	
  
Old	
  Guildford	
   is	
   considered	
   to	
   have	
  began	
  when	
   a	
   Lieutenant	
   Samuel	
  North	
  was	
   granted	
  
land	
   in	
  the	
  area	
   in	
  1837.	
  The	
  name	
  Guildford,	
  given	
  by	
  North,	
  was	
   inspired	
  by	
  the	
  English	
  
Earl	
  of	
  Guildford,	
   a	
   title	
  originating	
  back	
   from	
   the	
   seventeenth	
   century,	
  whom	
  North	
  was	
  
distantly	
   related	
   to.20	
   A	
   small	
   township	
   ensued,	
   although	
   when	
   exactly	
   this	
   happened	
   is	
  
unclear.	
  The	
  little	
  village	
  established	
  by	
  the	
  late	
  1860s.	
  A	
  school	
  was	
  established	
  in	
  1860	
  and	
  
in	
  1867,	
  the	
  town	
  acquired	
  a	
  post	
  office.21	
  The	
  township	
  took	
  on	
  the	
  name	
  of	
  Old	
  Guildford	
  
around	
  1876,	
  when	
  the	
  settlement	
  surrounding	
  the	
  newly	
  installed	
  Guildford	
  railway	
  station	
  
outgrew	
   the	
   older	
   township.	
   Often	
   sources	
   are	
   vague	
   when	
   it	
   comes	
   to	
   Old	
   Guildford,	
  
because	
   it	
   is	
   unclear	
  which	
  Guildford	
   is	
  being	
   referred	
   to.	
   This	
   suburb	
   is	
   certainly	
   a	
   great	
  
opportunity	
  for	
  future	
  research.	
  	
  
	
  
	
  

	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  

	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  

	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  
19	
  Pollon,	
  p.	
  117.	
  	
  
20	
  George,	
  p.	
  85.	
  	
  
21	
  George,	
  p.	
  93.	
  	
  

“Guildford”,	
  The	
  Cumberland	
  Argus	
  and	
  Fruitgrowers	
  
Advocate,	
  26	
  November	
  1898.	
  	
  
By	
  the	
  turn	
  of	
  the	
  century,	
  the	
  name	
  “Old	
  Guildford”	
  
had	
  been	
  well	
  established.	
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WETHERILL	
  PARK	
  
	
  
Wetherill	
  Park,	
  like	
  many	
  of	
  the	
  older	
  suburbs,	
  is	
  a	
  challenging	
  case	
  when	
  trying	
  to	
  pin	
  down	
  
the	
  official	
  date	
  of	
  establishment.	
  The	
  suburb	
  was	
  named	
  after	
  John	
  Wetherill,	
  who	
  owned	
  
an	
  estate	
  in	
  the	
  area.	
  He	
  donated	
  some	
  of	
  his	
  land	
  for	
  public	
  use	
  in	
  the	
  early	
  1890s,	
  and	
  the	
  
area	
   was	
   consequently	
   named	
  Wetherill	
   Park.22	
   Close	
   analysis	
   of	
   newspaper	
   articles	
   and	
  
Council	
  records	
  suggest	
  that	
  Wetherill	
  Park	
  became	
  an	
  official	
  township	
  in	
  the	
  early	
  1890s.	
  
Although	
   land	
   subdivisions	
   began	
   in	
   1881,	
   it	
   wasn’t	
   until	
   the	
   1893	
   that	
   any	
   sign	
   of	
   an	
  
“official”	
   township	
   developed.	
   This	
   can	
   particularly	
   be	
   seen	
   through	
   the	
   inclusion	
   of	
  
Wetherill	
  Park	
  in	
  the	
  electoral	
  roll	
  in	
  1893.	
  It	
  is	
  also	
  listed	
  as	
  being	
  a	
  key	
  polling	
  location	
  for	
  
voters.	
   Discussions	
   also	
   began	
   in	
   1893	
   about	
   building	
   a	
   school	
   in	
   Wetherill	
   Park,	
   as	
  
proposed	
   to	
   the	
   “Department	
   of	
   Public	
   Instruction”,	
   which	
   did	
   eventuate	
   in	
   1897.	
   The	
  
Wetherill	
  Park	
  Cricket	
  Club	
  was	
  established	
   in	
  1896,	
  which	
  suggest	
   that	
   the	
   town	
  was,	
  by	
  
then,	
  well	
  established	
  and	
  a	
  key	
  part	
  of	
  local	
  identity.	
  The	
  Wetherill	
  Park	
  Reserve,	
  donated	
  
by	
  John	
  Wetherill,	
  was	
  also	
  placed	
  under	
  the	
  jurisdiction	
  of	
  the	
  Fairfield	
  Council	
  in	
  1893.23	
  
	
  

	
  
“Wetherill	
  Park”,	
  The	
  Cumberland	
  Argus	
  and	
  
Fruitgrowers	
  Advocate,	
  20	
  May	
  1893,	
  p.	
  2	
  
	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  
	
  
	
  
Application	
  for	
  a	
  school	
  at	
  Wetherill	
  Park	
  was	
  
made	
  in	
  1893.	
  Although	
  initially	
  rejected,	
  a	
  
school	
  was	
  eventually	
  built	
  in	
  1897.	
  

	
  
	
  

	
  

	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  
22	
  See	
  Municipality	
  of	
  Fairfield	
  Council	
  Minutes	
  records	
  for	
  1890-­‐1893.	
  A	
  J.	
  Wetherill	
  is	
  often	
  
mentioned	
  in	
  regards	
  to	
  Wetherill	
  Park.	
  	
  
23	
  Municipality	
  of	
  Fairfield	
  Council	
  Minutes	
  Records,	
  Wednesday	
  27	
  December,	
  1893.	
  	
  

Land	
  subdivisions	
  began	
  in	
  the	
  early	
  1880s.	
  
“Richardson	
  and	
  Wrench”,	
  Sydney	
  Morning	
  
Herald,	
  1	
  March	
  1818,	
  p.	
  9.	
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“Wetherill	
  Park:	
  Cricket	
  Club”,	
  The	
  Cumberland	
  
Argus	
  and	
  Fruitgrowers	
  Advocate,	
  19	
  
September	
  1896,	
  p.	
  8.	
  	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  

	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
   	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  

Wetherill	
  Park	
  noted	
  as	
  a	
  polling	
  place	
  for	
  
the	
  first	
  time	
  in	
  1893.	
  	
  
“Central	
  Cumberland	
  Election”,	
  Sydney	
  
Morning	
  Herald,	
  8	
  May	
  1893,	
  p.	
  3.	
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GREENFIELD	
  PARK	
  
	
  
Greenfield	
  Park	
  was	
  officially	
  established	
  as	
  a	
  suburb	
   in	
  1979.24	
  The	
  area	
  was	
  a	
  part	
  of	
  St	
  
Johns	
   Park	
   but	
   became	
   a	
   separate	
   suburb	
   as	
   a	
   result	
   of	
   extensive	
   residential	
   and	
  
commercial	
   development	
   in	
   the	
   area	
   during	
   the	
   late	
   1970s	
   (similar	
   to	
   Prairiewood	
   and	
  
Wakeley).	
  It	
  was	
  named	
  after	
  a	
  road	
  which	
  was	
  a	
  part	
  of	
  historic	
  St	
  Johns	
  Park.25	
  A	
  shopping	
  
centre	
  was	
   established	
   in	
   1982,	
   bringing	
   commercial	
   and	
   residential	
   development	
   to	
   the	
  
area.	
  	
  
	
  

	
  
Municipality	
  of	
  Fairfield	
  Council	
  Minutes,	
  19th	
  June,	
  1979,	
  article	
  187.	
  	
  
	
  
The	
  new	
  suburbs	
  of	
  Greenfield	
  Park,	
  Prairiewood	
  and	
  Wakeley	
  were	
  officially	
  “suburbs”	
  in	
  
1979.	
  	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  
24	
  Municipality	
  of	
  Fairfield	
  Council	
  Minutes,	
  19th	
  June	
  1979,	
  article	
  187.	
  	
  
25	
  George,	
  p.	
  118.	
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SMITHFIELD	
  
	
  
Smithfield	
   is	
   one	
   of	
   the	
   oldest	
   suburbs	
   of	
   the	
   Fairfield	
   District.	
   Smithfield	
   was	
   officially	
  
proclaimed	
   a	
   district	
   in	
   1888,	
   when	
   the	
   Municipality	
   of	
   Smithfield	
   and	
   Fairfield	
   was	
  
established	
   in	
  December	
  1888.	
  Elections	
  and	
   local	
  politics	
  were	
  well	
  underway	
  soon	
  after.	
  
However,	
   the	
   establishment	
   of	
   Smithfield	
   began	
   much	
   earlier.	
   In	
   Bailliere’s	
   New	
   South	
  
Wales	
   Gazetteer	
   and	
   Road	
   Guide,	
   written	
   1866,	
   Smithfield	
   is	
   described	
   as	
   being	
   an	
  
“agricultural	
   and	
   fruit-­‐growing	
   district	
   […]	
   being	
   taken	
   up	
   by	
   small	
   farmers”.	
   Most	
  
particularly,	
  “Smithfield	
  has	
  a	
  post	
  office,	
  2	
  stores,	
  a	
  church	
  of	
  England,	
  and	
  Baptist	
  Chapel,	
  
and	
   National	
   School	
   [and]	
   there	
   are	
   also	
   2	
   hotels”.26	
   Such	
   descriptions	
   suggest	
   that	
  
Smithfield	
  was	
  established	
  much	
  earlier	
  than	
  1888.	
  	
  
	
  
	
  In	
  1836,	
  John	
  Ryan	
  Brenan	
  bought	
  the	
  land	
  that	
  is	
  now	
  Smithfield.	
  Brenan	
  had	
  an	
  ambitious	
  
plan	
   to	
  establish	
  one	
  of	
   the	
  biggest	
   cattle	
  markets	
   in	
   Sydney	
  and	
  also	
   create	
  an	
  adjacent	
  
settlement.	
   He	
   originally	
   named	
   the	
   area	
   Donnybrook,	
   but	
   changed	
   it	
   to	
   Smithfield	
   in	
  
honour	
  of	
  the	
  meat	
  markets	
  of	
  London.27	
  The	
  Smithfield	
  Markets	
  were	
  officially	
  opened	
  in	
  
1841.	
  Although	
   the	
  venture	
  was	
  not	
  as	
   successful	
  as	
  anticipated,	
  a	
   settlement	
  did	
   indeed	
  
develop,	
   soon	
   becoming	
   the	
   township	
   described	
   in	
   Bailliere’s	
   guide.	
   A	
   provisional	
   school	
  
was	
  built	
   in	
  1843,	
  which	
  was	
   later	
   improved	
   in	
  1850.	
  A	
  Baptist	
  minister	
  was	
  appointed	
  as	
  
early	
  as	
  1842.28	
  Despite	
  his	
  unfulfilled	
  venture,	
  the	
  layout	
  of	
  Smithfield	
  today	
  resembles	
  the	
  
subdivision	
   plans	
   created	
   by	
   Brenan	
   back	
   in	
   1838.	
   Given	
   the	
   quick	
   establishment	
   of	
  
Smithfield	
   soon	
   after	
   Brenan’s	
   influence,	
   1841	
   seems	
   to	
   be	
   the	
   year	
   that	
   Smithfield	
   truly	
  
began	
  to	
  establish	
  itself	
  as	
  a	
  town.	
  
	
  
	
  

	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  
26	
  Robert	
  P.	
  Whitworth,	
  Bailliere’s	
  New	
  South	
  Wales	
  Gazeteer	
  and	
  Road	
  Guide	
  (Sydney:	
  F.F	
  
Bailliere,	
  1866),	
  p.	
  502.	
  	
  
27	
  Pollon,	
  p.	
  245.	
  	
  
28	
  George,	
  p.	
  26.	
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  “Smithfield	
  Market”,	
  Sydney	
  Morning	
  	
  
Herald,	
  18	
  November	
  1841.29	
  

	
  

	
  
	
  

	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  
29	
  Taken	
  from	
  Vance	
  George,	
  Fairfield:	
  A	
  History	
  of	
  the	
  District,	
  2nd	
  edition	
  (Sydney:	
  The	
  
Council	
  of	
  the	
  City	
  of	
  Fairfield,	
  1991),	
  p.	
  19.	
  	
  

Brenan	
  published	
  numerous	
  advertisements	
  in	
  local	
  
newspapers	
  to	
  advertise	
  the	
  Smithfield	
  Markets.	
  
Interestingly,	
  the	
  area	
  was	
  known	
  as	
  Smithfield,	
  
Donnybrook,	
  Chisolm’s	
  Bush	
  and	
  Prospect.	
  
Smithfield	
  prevailed.	
  	
  
“Prospectus	
  –	
  Periodical”,	
  The	
  Australasian	
  
Chronicle,	
  5	
  August	
  1841,	
  p.	
  1.	
  	
  
	
  

	
  
Opening	
  of	
  the	
  Smithfield	
  Markets.	
  Notice	
  
how	
  settlement	
  in	
  the	
  area	
  is	
  encouraged	
  by	
  
offering	
  land	
  incentives	
  for	
  tradespeople.	
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The	
  plans	
  for	
  the	
  township	
  of	
  Smithfield,	
  as	
  created	
  by	
  John	
  Brenan	
  in	
  1838.30	
  Remarkably,	
  
the	
  layout	
  of	
  present-­‐day	
  Smithfield	
  follows	
  these	
  plans.	
  One	
  can	
  walk	
  down	
  Brenan	
  street	
  
today!	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  

	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  
30	
  Taken	
  from	
  Vance	
  George,	
  Fairfield:	
  A	
  History	
  of	
  the	
  District,	
  2nd	
  edition	
  (Sydney:	
  The	
  
Council	
  of	
  the	
  City	
  of	
  Fairfield,	
  1991),	
  p.	
  17.	
  The	
  original	
  can	
  be	
  found	
  at	
  the	
  Mitchell	
  Library,	
  
Sydney.	
  Also	
  visit	
  Whitlam	
  Library,	
  Cabramatta,	
  to	
  access	
  reproductions	
  and	
  similar	
  maps.	
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PRAIRIEWOOD	
  
	
  
Prairiewood,	
   located	
   between	
   Wetherill	
   Park	
   and	
   Wakeley,	
   was	
   officially	
   instated	
   as	
   a	
  
suburb	
  in	
  1979.31	
  Originally	
  a	
  part	
  of	
  Bossley	
  Park,	
  the	
  area	
  was	
  subdivided	
  and	
  developed	
  
as	
  “Prairiewood	
  Park	
  Estate”	
  in	
  the	
  early	
  1900s.	
  The	
  earliest	
  use	
  of	
  the	
  name	
  Prairiewood	
  is	
  
1911.	
   	
   It	
   is	
   believed	
   that	
   is	
   was	
   named	
   after	
   adjacent	
   roads.32	
   Modern	
   suburban	
  
development	
   began	
   in	
   the	
   early	
   1970s,	
   similar	
   to	
   the	
   neighbouring	
   suburbs	
   of	
  Wakeley,	
  
Greenfield	
  park	
  and	
  Bonnyrigg.	
  Although	
  a	
  quiet	
  suburb,	
  it	
  has	
  a	
  number	
  of	
  facilities,	
  such	
  
as	
  the	
  Prairiewood	
  Leisure	
  Centre,	
  Fairfield	
  Hospital	
  and	
  a	
  Golf	
  Course.	
  	
  
	
  

	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  
31	
  See	
  Municipality	
  of	
  Fairfield	
  Council	
  Minutes,	
  Wednesday	
  6th	
  June,	
  1979.	
  Refer	
  to	
  
Greenfield	
  Park.	
  	
  
32	
  George,	
  p.	
  118.	
  	
  

“Bossley	
  Park,	
  The	
  Cumberland	
  Argus	
  and	
  
Fruitgrowers	
  Advocate,	
  29	
  March	
  1919,	
  p.	
  5.	
  
Transcription:	
   “The	
   newly	
   settled	
   Prairiewood	
  
Park	
   is	
   attracting	
   a	
   number	
   of	
   settlers,	
   and	
   the	
  
population	
   almost	
   daily	
   increasing.	
   Many	
   nice	
  
homes	
   and	
   orchards	
   are	
   in	
   the	
   prime	
   of	
  
establishment”	
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WANT	
  MORE	
  INFORMATION?	
  
	
  
Books:	
  
	
  
Gapps,	
  Stephen.	
  Cabrogal	
  to	
  Fairfield	
  City	
  (Fairfield:	
  Fairfield	
  City	
  Council,	
  2010).	
  	
  
	
  
George,	
  Vance.	
  Fairfield:	
  A	
  History	
  of	
  the	
  District	
  (Sydney:	
  The	
  Council	
  of	
  the	
  City	
  of	
  Fairfield,	
  
1991).	
  	
  
	
  
Pollon,	
  Frances.	
  The	
  Book	
  of	
  Sydney	
  Suburbs	
  (North	
  Ryde:	
  Angus	
  &	
  Robertson,	
  1991).	
  	
  
	
  
Whitworth,	
  Robert	
  P.,	
  Bailliere’s	
  New	
  South	
  Wales	
  Gazeteer	
  and	
  Road	
  Guide	
  (Sydney:	
  F.F	
  

Bailliere,	
  1866).	
  	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  Newspaper	
  clippings	
  can	
  be	
  accessed	
  via:	
  
	
  
Trove,	
  hosted	
  by	
  National	
  Library	
  of	
  Australia.	
  http://trove.nla.gov.au/ndp/del/home	
  
	
  
For	
  local	
  newspaper	
  sources,	
  visit	
  the	
  Whitlam	
  Library	
  local	
  studies	
  department’s	
  microfilm	
  
collection.	
  
	
  
	
  
Visit	
  the	
  Local	
  Studies	
  department	
  at	
  Whitlam	
  Library:	
  
Railway	
  Parade,	
  Cabramatta,	
  NSW,	
  20166.	
  
Phone:	
  (02)	
  9725	
  0365	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  

“The	
   Call	
   of	
   the	
   Open”,	
   Sydney	
   Morning	
  
Herald,	
  18	
  October	
  1911,	
  p.	
  5.	
  	
  
	
  


